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Statement of Geotechnical Suitability: 

51 Heberden Avenue 

1 Site Location and Description 

51 Heberden Avenue is located on the lower slopes of Scarborough Hill above the seaside village of 

Sumner, approximately 15 km east of Christchurch.  Residential areas exist downhill of the site and 

on the opposite side of Heberden Avenue.  The site encompasses moderate to steeply sloping ground 

(30 - 80°). Access to the lower extremity of the property is via an existing shared driveway. 

The overall site is relatively large (2757 m2) and has the potential land area to be subdivided into 3 

separate sections (refer to the attached Possible Subdivision Plan). 

2 Walkover Observations & Geotechnical 

Investigations 

Site walkover and preliminary geotechnical investigations were completed by Opus throughout July 

and August 2014. The site walkover mapped geological hazards, identified feasible building 

platforms and confirmed investigation locations. 

The following key observations are considered relevant to the site’s development: 

 Several surficial rock outcrops were identified that could pose an unacceptable level of risk that 

may require remediation (e.g. deconstruction and removal); and, 

 Non-engineered rockfall barriers are present at the lower boundary of the site and are 

considered inadequate.  However, these barriers would be deemed redundant should scaling of 

the site be undertaken and may present an opportunity for cost-sharing of hazard removal 

works with affected parties (i.e. downslope property owners). 

Geotechnical hazard maps indicating the location of geological features pertinent to the future 

development at this site are presented in Figure 1.  Locations of geotechnical investigation and testing 

are also indicated. 

Geotechnical investigations comprised two hand auger boreholes and four Scala penetrometer tests.  

The site is typically underlain by 0.3 - 0.7 m of dark brown, Firm to Stiff, Sandy SILT overlying 

bedrock of the Lyttelton volcanic group.  This profile is expected to be consistent across the site with 

localised variations in thickness. 
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Figure 1: Site Walkover and Indicative Accessway Plan 

3 Development Considerations 

3.1 CCC District Plan Constraints 

Seismically induced land instability (e.g. Boulder Roll, Cliff Collapse and Mass Movement) have 

become a significant issue throughout the Port Hills and wider Banks Peninsula since the Darfield 

earthquake of 2010. 

Recent proposed changes to the CCC District Plan indicate that the site is not directly impacted by 

any additional land instability issues as a result of the recent investigations. 

3.2 Access Requirements 

Appropriately engineered access (e.g. maximum gradient = 20 %, minimum movement lane = 2.5 m 

as required by NZS 4404) for a private road / private way could theoretically be developed by 

extending the current access to the rear of the existing residential properties. 

The necessary investigations, concept designs and outline plans are currently being undertaken. The 

options with the least economic impact are subject to neighbour and regulatory authority approvals 

(i.e. easements). 
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In addition, the sharp corner of the existing driveway (refer to the attached Site Survey of the existing 

driveway) could be eased by utilising land that is subject to a recently negotiated lease agreement of 

99 years (see attached agreement). 

3.3 Building Locations 

Suitable locations for residential sections are toward the uppermost (south-east) boundary of the 

site, where the gradient is less steep and outcropping rock is at a minimum.  Note: the upper 

boundary of the site is currently incorrectly shown on CCC records and is in the process of being re-

defined (refer attached letter by Davie Lovell-Smith Ltd, dated 31st July 2006). 

3.4 Foundation Options 

Neighbouring structures provide good evidence of suitable foundation systems at this locality, which 

typically require benching / terracing of the bedrock (i.e. founding on competent material) and 

supporting any overhanging structures on poles / columns. 

There has been no observed or reported structural damage to the existing dwellings as a result of the 

recent earthquakes.  Given the proximity of this site to the epicentres of the February and June 2011 

aftershock events this is considered a good indication of suitability. 

Volcanic rock, such as the rock that exists at 51 Heberden Avenue, has a bearing capacity in the order 

of 5 MPa to 10 MPa (provided the rock is competent). Therefore, and in general, the foundation 

conditions likely to be encountered are considered almost certain to meet the 100 kPa Allowable 

Bearing Capacity (i.e. ‘Good Ground’) requirements for typical residential dwellings in New 

Zealand. 

4 Limitation 

This report has been prepared solely for the benefit of KI Commercial Limited with respect to our 

Offer of Service dated 2nd July 2014. Data or opinions in this document may not be relied upon or 

used out of context, by any other party or for any other purpose without further reference to the 

Christchurch Geotechnical Section of Opus International Consultants Ltd. 

It is recognised that the passage of time affects the information and assessment provided in this 

Document. Opus’s opinions are based upon information that existed at the time of the production of 
this Preliminary Geotechnical Appraisal. It is understood that the Services provided allowed Opus to 

form no more than an opinion on the actual conditions of the site at the time the site was visited and 

cannot be used to assess the effect of any subsequent changes in the quality of the site, or its 

surroundings or any laws or regulations. 

Brett Menefy Mark Easton 
 
 
 
 
Graduate Geotechnical Engineer Senior Geotechnical Engineer 
AIPENZ, CertEtn MIPENZ, CPEng 
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31 July 2006 

 

 

Keung Investments Limited 

P O Box 4474 

CHRISTCHURCH 

 

EMAILED 

 

Attention Paul Keung 
 

 

Dear Paul 

 

ZONE BOUNDARY AT 51 HEBERDEN AVENUE 

 

We have looked into the issue of the split zoning within your property at 51 Heberden Avenue, 

Sumner and spoken to the City Council on your behalf. 

 

The property at present is partly within the Living Hills Zone and partly within the Rural Hills Zone 

of the City Plan.  It is somewhat unusual for an individual property to be split zoned, particularly 

where the property is not large. It appears that the Council simply did not take the existing property 

boundaries into account when the City Plan was first notified.   

 

The Council advises that the subdivisions team have already brought the issue of the split zoning in 

this area to the City Plan team’s notice and are keen for the boundary to be tidied up by way of plan 

change as soon as possible.  In effect then the Council is likely to move the zone boundary so that 

your property sits entirely within the Living Hills Zone.  It is however one of several hundred plan 

changes that are sitting waiting to be dealt by the Council and it is unlikely that the issue will be 

addressed anytime in the near future. 

 

If you wish to further subdivide your property in accordance with the Living Hills Zone rules, you 

have three options: 

 

1. We can meet with the head of the City Plan team and encourage him to make this plan 

change a higher priority; 

2. We can bring forward a private plan change – this effectively means that a plan change 

can be instigated immediately, but that you would carry all the costs involved in that 

process; 

3. We can submit a resource consent application for a non-complying subdivision, based 

on the existing zoning. 

 

Davie, Lovell-Smith Ltd 

79 Cambridge Tce, 

PO Box 679, Christchurch, 

New Zealand 

Telephone (03) 379-0793, 

Facsimile (03) 379-5664, 

E-mail: 

office@daviels.co.nz 
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We suggest the best option, if you wish to subdivide further in the near future, would be a 

combination of options 1 and 3.  Essentially this means approaching the Council to encourage them 

to sort out the issue as soon as possible, but not relying a plan change to occur.  We do not advise 

pursuing option 2 as it is typically a long and expensive process and is unlikely to be cost effective 

for a small development. 

 

If you wish to discuss your options further, please do not hesitate to contact us. 

 

 

Yours sincerely 

DAVIE LOVELL-SMITH LIMITED 

 

 

 

 

KIM SEATON 

 
 

J://15943/let_310706_zone boundary options.doc 


